# AGREEMENT

# **BY AND BETWEEN**

# **BENTON-FRANKLIN HEALTH DISTRICT**

# AND

# **PROFESSIONAL & TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 17 (PROTEC17)**

# **JANUARY 1, 2023 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024**

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HEALTH SERVICES UNITS

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PREAMBLE	. 1
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNITS	. 1
ARTICLE 2 - UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES	. 2
ARTICLE 3 - NON-DISCRIMINATION	. 3
ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	. 3
ARTICLE 5 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 6 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES	. 5
ARTICLE 7- PERSONNEL RULES	-
ARTICLE 8 - CONTRACTING OUT	
ARTICLE 9 - COMPENSATION AND RATES OF PAY	. 9
ARTICLE 10 - HOURS OF WORK	
ARTICLE 11 - VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 12 - HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 13 - SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 14 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	
ARTICLE 15 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 16 - INSURANCE BENEFITS	-
ARTICLE 17 - RETIREMENT	
ARTICLE 18 - GENERAL CONDITIONS	
ARTICLE 19 - CLASSIFICATION	
ARTICLE 20 - HIRING, PROMOTIONS & TRANSFERS	
ARTICLE 21 - LAYOFF AND RECALL	
ARTICLE 22 - DISCIPLINE	-
ARTICLE 23 - UNION REPRESENTATIVES	
ARTICLE 24 - CONFERENCE COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 25 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	
ARTICLE 26 - SUBORDINATION OF AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 27 - NO WORK STOPPAGE AND NO LOCKOUT	
ARTICLE 28 - EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE	
ARTICLE 29 - FURLOUGH/TEMPORARY FUNDING EMERGENCY	-
ARTICLE 30 - SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES AND EXPECTATIONS	
ARTICLE 31 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	33

APPENDIX A APPENDIX B THIS AGREEMENT is between **Benton-Franklin District Health District** (hereinafter called the District) and the **Professional and Technical Employees**, Local 17 (PROTEC17), (hereinafter called the Union). The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth wages, hours and other conditions of employment of those employees of whom the District has recognized the Union as the exclusive bargaining representative.

### **PREAMBLE**

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish compensation and working conditions for employees in the bargaining unit. This Agreement has been reached through the process of collective bargaining. The District believes that the practices and procedures of collective bargaining constitute a fair and orderly way of conducting its relations with its full-time employees and regular part-time employees insofar as such practices and procedures do not interfere with the District's right and obligation to operate efficiently and effectively in order to best serve the citizenry within the District.

### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNITS**

<u>Section 1</u>: The District hereby recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining representative of all Environmental Health, Clerical, and Allied Health Professionals in the District and excludes those positions listed in Section 3 of this Article. Current represented job classifications are listed in the attached appendix.

<u>Section 2</u>: Employees in Section 1 above shall be meant to include full-time employees and regular part-time employees.

<u>Section 3</u>: The Union hereby recognizes that those positions which are excluded from the Union are as follows: Health Officer, Public Health Administrator, Deputy to the Health Officer, Assistant Administrator, Director of Environmental Health, Director of Preventative Health Services, Director of Administrative and Support Services, Human Resource Manager, Human Resources employees, Senior Manager Environmental Health, Senior Manager Preventative Health, Operations Manager, Performance Manager, Administrative Services Manager, Administrative Analyst/Executive Assistant, Administrative Assistant, Accounting Specialist, Finance Manager, Finance Clerk, Client Services Manager, IT Manager, IT employees, System Analyst, Region 8 Public Health Emergency Response Personnel, all seasonal employees, all casual employees, all irregular part-time employees, independent contractors, and those employees represented by a Union other than PROTEC17.

<u>Section 4</u>: Grant and Special Funded Project/Program Employees: Inclusion of positions in grants and/or specially funded projects/programs will be determined with regard to specific provisions and requirements after discussions with the Union. Employees who are hired into positions posted as grant and/or specially funded projects/programs from outside the Health District may be discharged in the event the grant and/or project/program is discontinued without regard to the layoff provisions and any other provisions which could impede and/or cause expense in the event of discontinuance of the grants and/or projects/programs. However, grant-funded employees who have been subjected to layoff shall receive preference for openings within this bargaining unit for which they are qualified for one year from the date of the layoff. In the event a bargaining unit employee, who is not originally hired into a grant and/or specially funded project/program takes a

position in a grant and/or specially funded project/program which is discontinued, the discontinuance shall be treated as a layoff of those employees working in the project/program who shall have the rights as set forth in the layoff article, herein. Project employees whose grants are funded beyond two (2) years shall be converted into regular-status employees.

Should District management deem it necessary, during the life of this Agreement, to create the position or positions of Assistant Director of Nursing Services and/or Assistant Director of Environmental Health based upon increased work force or work loads, the following procedures will be used: (1) the District will inform the Union of its desire to create the new position(s); (2) the District and the Union will meet and confer at a reasonable time thereafter; (3) if the Union does not object to the creation of the new position(s), then the District may create such position(s); (4) if the Union and the District cannot agree as to the need for the new position(s), then the matter shall be referred to arbitration as provided for in the grievance procedure article of this Agreement, however, each party will equally bear the cost of the third and neutral arbitrator.

<u>Section 5</u>: For the purposes of this Agreement, seasonal employees shall mean those employees hired for peak work periods that do not exceed six (6) months in duration; casual employees shall mean those hired for incidental purposes or one-time projects; irregular part-time employees shall mean those hired for on-call purposes or who do not have a regular work schedule and who work less than eighty-seven (87) hours per month; special funded programs shall mean programs such as the Blue Mountain Action Program; and CETA employees shall only be exempt until such times as they are integrated into the system.

<u>Section 6</u>: All elected officials and officers of the District are excluded from the bargaining unit.

<u>Section 7</u>: The Union recognizes that the District's management is not precluded nor restricted from performing any and all types of work performed by the bargaining unit members.

<u>Section 8</u>: Where those duties covered by this Agreement are assigned to a different or new classification, the Union will continue to be recognized as the exclusive bargaining representative.

# **ARTICLE 2 - UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES**

<u>Section 1</u>: The District agrees to deduct from the paycheck of each employee monthly dues if the employee has voluntarily signed an application for membership. The amount deducted shall be transmitted monthly to the Union on behalf of the employees who voluntarily authorized the deduction. The employee's authorization remains in effect until expressly revoked in writing by the employee to the union. Members may receive information regarding their membership status by contacting PROTEC 17 at (800)783-0017 ext. 123.

The employee contributions towards the Political Action Committee shall be between the employee and the Union and shall not be by payroll deduction by the employer.

<u>Section 2</u>: The Union agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District from any and all claims, lawsuits, issues, ULPs, grievances, arbitrations and any as well as all liability resulting from the administration of the provisions of this Article including issues with dues deduction,

attorney's fees, etc. If an improper deduction is made, the Union shall immediately refund said deduction directly to said employee.

<u>Section 3</u>: The District will notify the Union office of employees hired into a position included in the bargaining unit. The Union is provided with the Application for Membership form.

Section 4: The District will provide the Union access to new employees covered by the bargaining agreement. The District will allow the Union no less than thirty (30) minutes to meet with new employees during the employee's work hours and at his or her usual worksite, virtually, or mutually agreed upon location. Prior notification to be provided to the employee's supervisor.

Section 5: Steward Training – During each year of this Agreement, PROTEC17's Executive Director may request that Union stewards be provided up to four (4) hours of release time without loss of pay to participate in the steward training programs sponsored by the Union.

The Union shall submit to Human Resources as far in advance as possible, but at least four (4) weeks in advance, the names of up to two (2) stewards who will be attending the training course. Time off for these purposes is subject to advance approval by the employee's supervisor. Such training will not interfere with required work duties.

# ARTICLE 3 - NON-DISCRIMINATION

<u>Section 1</u>: The District and the Union agree that they will not discriminate against any employee by reason of race, color, age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, or the presence of any sensory, mental or physical handicap, unless based on a bona fide occupational qualification reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the District or the Union.

<u>Section 2</u>: The District shall not discriminate against any employee on account of membership in the Union or other Union activities, except as is provided for in the Union Security Clause of this Agreement.

<u>Section 3</u>: No employee shall be subject to any pressure regarding support and/or financial contribution to any candidate for political office or ballot issue against the will of the employee.

# **ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

Core management rights are exclusively controlled by the District. The District is hereby vested with the authority to exercise and implement such rights without having to bargain about the decisions nor about the effects of such decisions. Core management rights are as follows:

- (1) The right to establish any and all lawful work rules and procedures which are not in conflict or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.
- (2) The right to schedule any and all work and overtime work and any and all methods and processes by which said work is to be performed in a manner most advantageous to the District and consistent with the requirements of the public

interest and which are not in conflict or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

- (3) The right to hire, transfer, layoff and promote employees as deemed necessary by the District.
- (4) The right to discipline an employee, as provided for in Article 22 hereof, for just cause in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (5) The right to make any and all determinations as to the size and composition of the work force and the right to make any and all assignments of employees to work locations and shifts.
- (6) The parties understand that incidental duties connected with operations, not necessarily enumerated in job descriptions, shall nevertheless be performed by employees when requested to do so by management. Incidental duties shall mean those duties which do not constitute a substantial departure from the employee's job classification.
- (7) The right to take whatever actions management deems necessary to carry out District services in an emergency. Management shall be the sole determiner as to the existence of emergency and any and all actions necessary to implement service during said emergency.
- (8) The right to determine and implement, from time-to-time, the quality insurance standards of the District.
- (9) The right to determine the District's budget.

# ARTICLE 5 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

<u>Section 1</u>: The off-duty activities of employees shall not be cause for disciplinary action unless said activities are clearly detrimental to the employee's work performance.

<u>Section 2</u>: District employees shall not secure or obtain employment during off-duty hours if said employment could result in a conflict of interest between their official duties for the District as it relates to their off-duty employment activities.

<u>Section 3</u>: An employee or their authorized representative shall have the right, upon written request to the Human Resources Manager, to inspect their personnel file in the presence of the Human Resources Manager at a reasonable time during the work day. For the authorized representative to inspect the employee's personnel file, the employee must submit, to the Human Resources Manager, a signed authorization statement granting the authorized representative to inspect said file.

<u>Section 4</u>: No evaluation or other material referring to competence in job performance, personal conduct on the job, off-duty activities of the employee which are clearly detrimental to the

employee's work performance or other documentation that may have an adverse effect on employment shall be placed in the employee's personnel file without the knowledge of the employee. The employee shall sign and date this material and/or evaluation indicating he/she has seen the material and/or evaluation. Said signature may or may not imply agreement.

<u>Section 5</u>: Employees shall have the right, subject to grievance time limitations, to challenge any material included in their personnel file through the grievance procedure as provided for in this Agreement.

<u>Section 6</u>: The District may maintain supervisory files for the sole purpose of gathering pertinent information for annual performance evaluations. The information gathered shall be destroyed within one (1) month after the employee's annual performance evaluation. Each employee shall be able to view and copy their supervisory file within three (3) working days of such request.

<u>Section 7</u>: Any performance standards used to measure the performance of employees shall be fair, just and reasonable and uniformly applied throughout the District.

<u>Section 8</u>: Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted to detract from or circumscribe the rights which have been given employees under Chapter 41.56 RCW, except as the rights of the employees are otherwise affected by the terms of this Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 6 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES**

<u>Section 1</u>: The parties hereto recognize the need for fairness and justice in the adjudication of employee and/or District grievances and enter into this Agreement in a cooperative spirit to adjust such actions promptly and fairly at the lowest level possible. If, however, a grievance cannot be resolved through normal means, the grievance will be settled as hereinafter provided.

<u>Section 2</u>: A grievance is defined as a question or challenge raised by an employee, a group of employees as a class action, or the District as to the correct interpretation and/or application of this Agreement or its references.

A class action may be initiated where action on the part of the District creates a grievance which impacts either a Division (*i.e.*, Nursing Services, Clerical or Environmental Health), several Divisions or the entire bargaining unit.

<u>Section 3</u>: Throughout the procedure as set forth in this Article, a grievance may be presented by an employee, a group of employees as a class action, or the District. A class action or one brought by the District must be initiated at Step 2 of this Article.

<u>Section 4</u>: Grievances may be heard at any time where practical and feasible.

<u>Section 5</u>: The parties agree that the time limitations provided are essential to the prompt and orderly resolution of any grievance, and that each will abide by the time limitations, unless an extension of time is mutually agreed to in writing. The District representative and the employee or their representative may extend the time limits by mutual agreement.

<u>Section 6</u>: Whenever the investigation of a grievance requires the inspection of certain records, the District shall make available such records to the Union representative provided a prior written request is made by the employee and signed by the employee.

<u>Section 7</u>: No grievance, other than a class action or grievance initiated by the District, shall be valid unless it is submitted at Step 1 within fifteen (15) working days after the occurrence of the grievance or within fifteen (15) working days after the employee knew or reasonably should have known of the event giving rise to the grievance. If a grievance is not presented within the time limits referenced herein, said grievance shall be considered waived. If a grievance is not appealed to the next step within the specified time limit or any agreed extension thereof, it shall be considered settled on the basis of the last written answer.

<u>Section 8</u>: The grievance procedure shall be as follows:

<u>Step 1</u>: The grievance shall be presented in written form to the Division Director within fifteen (15) working days of its occurrence or within fifteen (15) working days after the aggrieved party knew or reasonably should have known of the event-giving rise to the grievance. The Division Director shall respond in writing within fifteen (15) working days after receiving said grievance.

<u>Step 2</u>: If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the concerned parties at Step 1, then within fifteen (15) working days of the response in Step 1 above, the grievance in written form shall be presented to the District Administrator. Thereafter, the District Administrator shall have a grievance meeting between the grievant, Union Representative (or Steward when authorized by the Union Representative) and the District Administrator or designee before responding in writing to the Union. This meeting and response shall be issued no later than thirty (30) working days after the Union presented the grievance to the District Administrator.

A grievance brought as a class action must be initiated at Step 2 in written form to the District Administrator within fifteen (15) working days of its occurrence or within fifteen (15) working days after the employees knew or reasonably should have known of the event giving rise to the grievance. Thereafter, the District Administrator shall have a grievance meeting between the grievant, Union Representative (or Steward when authorized by the Union Representative) and the District Administrator or designee before responding in writing to the Union. This meeting and response shall be issued no later than thirty (30) working days after the Union presented the grievance to the District Administrator.

A grievance filed by the District against the Union must be initiated at Step 2, in written form to the Executive Director, within fifteen (15) working days after District Management knew or reasonably should have known of the event giving rise to the grievance. Thereafter, the District Administrator shall have a grievance meeting between the grievant, Union Representative (or Steward when authorized by the Union Representative) and the District Administrator or designee before responding in writing to the Union. This meeting and response shall be issued no later than thirty (30) working days after the Administrator presented the grievance to the Union. <u>Step 3</u>:

(a) <u>Final and Binding Arbitration</u>: If the grievance has not been resolved at Step 2, the Union or the District may refer the dispute to final and binding arbitration.

(b) <u>Notice - Time Limitation</u>: The Union or the District shall notify the other in writing by certified mail or submission to arbitration within ten (10) working days after the receipt of the Step 2 response.

(c) <u>Arbitrator - Number - Selection</u>: After timely notice, the parties will select an arbitrator in the following manner:

- (i) The Union and the District representatives shall attempt to select an arbitrator within fifteen (15) working days after receipt of the written grievance at Step 3. Thereafter, the hearing of the matter shall be at the earliest possible date. If the parties cannot agree upon an arbitrator, the arbitrator will be selected through the procedure as provided for in (ii) below.
- (ii) In the event the parties cannot mutually agree on an arbitrator then either party shall request that the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC) submit a list of eleven (11) names from the PERC register. If the parties cannot mutually agree on an arbitrator from the list of eleven, then the two parties shall meet and flip a coin. The winning party shall strike two (2) names from the list and communicate that choice to the other party. The losing party will strike two (2) names from said list and so on until one (1) name remains.. The remaining name shall be the arbitrator.
- (d) <u>Decision Time Limit</u>:
  - (i) The arbitrator will meet and hear the matter at the earliest possible date. After completion of the hearing, a decision shall be rendered as soon as possible subject to the arbitrator's determination.
  - (ii) The arbitrator's decisions shall be final and binding on the parties. Appeal to the courts may only take place if the arbitrator was clearly erroneous, arbitrary or capricious, or disregarded the law.
- (e) <u>Limitations Scope and Power of Arbitrator</u>:
  - (i) The arbitrator shall not have authority to add to, subtract from, alter, change or modify the terms or provisions of this Agreement.

- (ii) The power of the arbitrator shall be limited to interpretation of or application of the terms of this Agreement or to determine whether there has been a violation of the terms of this Agreement.
- (iii) The arbitrator shall consider and decide only the question(s) or issue(s) raised a Step 1 or Step 2 as determined by the Step where the grievance was first initiated, or continuations of the original grievance which do not constitute a new or different basis for a grievance.

### (f) <u>Arbitration Award - Damages - Expenses</u>:

- (i) Arbitration awards shall not be made beyond the date of the occurrence upon which the grievance is based, that date being fifteen (15) calendar days or less prior to the initial filing of the grievance.
- (ii) The arbitrator will retain jurisdiction of the grievance until such time as the award has been complied with in full unless the award is appealed as indicated in (d)(ii) above.
- (iii) The arbitrator shall not have authority to award punitive damages.
- (iv) Each party shall pay one half (1/2) the fees and expenses of the arbitrator. Each party shall be solely responsible for paying their attorney's fees, representative's fees, costs, witness fees, etc. If either party requests a court reporter or record keeper, each party shall bear one half (1/2) the expenses and if a transcript is requested then each party shall pay one half (1/2) the fees for the transcript and copying.
- (g) <u>Default</u>: If either party refuses to meet to attempt to settle such grievance with the arbitrator at the time or times scheduled for purposes of settling the grievance, such party shall be deemed to have recognized the merits of the other's position, and the grievance will be deemed to have been settled in the favor of the non-defaulting party.

# ARTICLE 7 - PERSONNEL RULES

<u>Section 1</u>: The District, through the District Administrator, has the right to and may develop and implement personnel rules and policies, except where said rules and policies are in conflict with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. All personnel rules and policies not specifically referred to in this Agreement shall be set forth in writing and each employee in the District will be provided access to said rules and policies.

<u>Section 2</u>: If there is a conflict between said personnel rules and policies and the specific Article(s) or Section(s) of this Agreement, then the specific Article(s) or Section(s) of this Agreement shall prevail.

### **ARTICLE 8- CONTRACTING OUT**

<u>Section 1</u>: The District will make every effort to utilize its employees to perform all work, but the District reserves the right to contract out for work under the following guidelines: (1) required expertise is not available within the District work force, or (2) the contract will result in a clear cost savings to the District, or (3) the occurrence of peak workloads above the work force capacity.

Determination as to (1), (2), or (3) above shall be made by the Administrator. Prior to contracting out under this provision, the District shall notify the Union of the date the District intends to contract out. The timing of said notice shall depend on the nature of the contracting out circumstances and only such notice as the Administrator determines is reasonably and practicably available shall be given. The Union may suggest alternatives or make other comments to the District. The Administrator shall make available to Local 17 upon request: (1) description of the services to be so performed, and (2) the factual basis supporting the reason for such action.

# **ARTICLE 9 - COMPENSATION AND RATES OF PAY**

<u>Section 1</u>: Only active employees on the payroll at the time of the union ratification will be eligible for negotiated retroactive increases, provided the agreement is ratified by the employer.

<u>Section 2</u>: Effective January 1, 2023, the rates of pay shall be increased by a 5% COLA across the board.

Effective January 1, 2023, a 2% market adjustment increase for the following classifications: Clerk-Typist/Receptionist I & II, Clerk-Steno I & II, Nutritionist Aide I & II, Peer Counselor I & II.

Effective January 2023, a 1.5% increase will be added to Step H, increasing Step H to 2.5% above Step G.

Effective January 1, 2024, the rates of pay shall be increased by a Cost-of-Living Allowance (COLA) based on ninety percent (90%) of the West-B/C (CPI-W) for the period July 2022 to July 2023 subject to a two percent (2.0%) minimum and a four percent (4.0%) maximum. The Human Resources calculation of the CPI shall be binding on the parties.

<u>Section 3</u>: The longevity plan shall be as follows: six (6) years - \$25.00 per month; at ten (10) years - \$80.00 per month; at fifteen (15) years - \$140.00 per month, and at twenty 20 years - \$200.00 per month.

<u>Section 4</u>: Salaries shall be described in the Appendix of this Agreement and by this reference is made a part hereof. During the life of this Agreement, the salary schedule shall not be changed without the prior agreement of the parties' signatory to this Agreement.

<u>Section 5</u>: For all bargaining unit positions, new hire placement in the salary ranges may be one (1) step for every four (4) years of directly relatable experience, up to a maximum of Step C. Public Health experience shall be preferred, but the Administrator may accept general experience. During the new hires six month probationary period the Administrator, in his sole discretion, on a case by case non-precedent setting basis, may determine, at any time, that a new hire has

demonstrated the skills, abilities, experience and education to fully perform at an exceptional level all aspects of the class specification. If the Administrator makes such a determination the Administrator may advance the employee to a higher Step than Step C in recognition of the demonstrated competencies. The progression from a classification series II to a classification series III is not an automatic progression and is determined by the Employer. The classification III and IV series are supervisory positions and are not subject to automatic progression but are determined by the Employer.

Section 6: Bilingual Premium Pay. BFHD reserves the right to determine which languages will apply for the bilingual pay differential and which positions will be eligible for bilingual pay. Employees who demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the District, the ability to communicate in a foreign language by completing a bilingual fluency assessment will be eligible to receive an addition to their base salary of eighty (\$80) per month as premium pay. Employees who are certified interpreters in a foreign language will be eligible to receive an addition to their base salary of one hundred (\$160) per month as premium pay. Staff will not be penalized for a failed initial assessment. Staff who have not passed an assessment or certification and have been hired under positions where a bilingual preference was specified, are still expected to provide good customer service to clients by speaking in their language or using the language line when needed. Staff who are in positions where bilingual skills are/were required will be required to pass the Tier 1 assessment and will be entitled to premium pay. The premiums in this Section will only be paid to those employees assigned to a position for which their particular language skills are a preferred qualification, as determined by the District. Effective January 1, 2023, until further determination by BFHD the following programs/departments are eligible:

- Operations Staff
- Administration Staff Clerical, Vital Records and Billing Department Staff

### **ARTICLE 10 - HOURS OF WORK**

<u>Section 1</u>: The basic work week shall be forty (40) hours, 5:00 p.m. Friday through 5:00 p.m. the following Friday. The basic work day shall be an eight (8) hour period between 6:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m., as established by the Administrator or Division Director for each employee. Any employee asked to work more than 40 hours within a work week shall be compensated at the appropriate overtime rate of pay subject to the provisions below pertaining to fairs, festivals and clinics. The District shall not schedule split shifts, (*i.e.*, four (4) hours on, four (4) hours off and four (4) hours on), except in emergencies. District management may change an employee's regular schedule, however, at least one (1) week notice of change of regular working schedule shall be given to the employee, except to fill a position due to absence of the employee filling said position (i.e., illness or vacation).

The District has the right to change an employee's schedule on a temporary basis to accommodate special programs or unusual circumstances or weekend events (i.e., fairs, festivals and clinics). When work is performed on an employee's regularly scheduled day off for such temporarily adjusted work schedules, it shall be the employee's option to work their regularly scheduled hours for that day so that another full work day may be flexed off that work week or flex their work week to accommodate those extra hours. Overtime shall not be worked unless there has been prior approval. When flexing the work week as described above is not possible due to workload as

determined by the Division Director (or designee) and the employee, upon mutual agreement between the Division Director (or designee) and the employee, the employee will be compensated, at the employee's option, either overtime or compensatory time at time and one-half  $(1\frac{1}{2} x)$  the employee's regular rate of pay.

<u>Example of Flex Time</u>: A Registered Dietitian is scheduled, as a District representative, to staff a booth at a five (5) hour community event on Saturday. During the preceding week, the employee worked five (5) consecutive days in the WIC Clinic.

Following communicating with the Division Director or designated Supervisor, the employee could choose to work the five (5) hours on Saturday and then reduce to three (3) hours a regular work day during the next week. This would be considered "flexing" time.

OR, following the end of the community event, the employee could return to their regularly scheduled office site and work the additional three (3) hours (content of work to be performed should be established with Supervisor) to complete an eight (8) hour day. The employee would work only four (4) days (or thirty-two (32) hours) during the following week.

If, due to workload demands as determined by the Division Director or designated Supervisor, the "flexing" of the additional time is not possible, then the Division Director will approve that the employee be compensated, at the employee's option, either overtime or compensatory time at time and one-half  $(1\frac{1}{2} x)$  the employee's regular rate of pay.

Nothing in this section is to be construed as preventing the Administrator from changing work schedules, on a temporary basis, in the event of an emergency.

Employees may make requests for alternate work week schedules, such as 4/10's and 9/8-off. Requests must be made in writing by the Employee to the Division Director. Denials shall be made in writing and include the reason(s) for denial. The record keeping time-sheet for a 9/8 - off schedule must be one which meets the FLSA standards dividing between two (2) work weeks midshift on the fifth day of work, which is either eight (8) hours or a day off. Granting alternate workweeks will be at the discretion of the District. Employees may request to work a hybrid remote schedule by completing the Employer's applicable forms. The approval or denial of hybrid remote work will be indicated in writing on the request form. Disputes arising out of this section will not be the subject of the grievance procedure but will be the proper subject of labor management discussion.

<u>Section 2</u>: Work performed in excess of forty (40) hours per week will be compensated at one and one-half (1.5) times normal hourly rate. Overtime shall not be worked unless there has been express prior approval by the Division Director or the Administrator. If the Division Director or the Administrator has granted express prior authorization to work overtime, then the employee

who has worked overtime may receive overtime compensation as compensatory time off or be paid, at the employee's election, consistent with State statutory provisions.

<u>Section 3</u>: Compensatory time off (comp-time) shall be earned at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the regular hourly rate for overtime worked. Comp-time must be taken within three (3) months of its being earned by the employee.

Section 4: One (1) hour will be provided in the middle of the day for lunch or with supervisor approval, on a case-by-case basis, based upon need, the lunch hour can be reduced to one-half (1/2) hour. This shall not prohibit the District from scheduling staggered lunch periods to provide coverage during lunch periods. One (1) fifteen (15) minute rest break will be provided during each four (4) hour work period.

<u>Section 5</u>: An employee who is specifically directed by their Division Director to work more than two (2) hours beyond their regular work day, and who actually purchases a meal away from their residence as a result of such additional hours worked, shall be reimbursed for the reasonable cost of such meal in accordance with the District's travel policy. To receive reimbursement, the employee must furnish the receipt for said meal to the Division Director. This provision shall not apply to workshops or professional conferences.

<u>Section 6</u>: For the purpose of computing overtime, authorized time off in pay status shall be construed as time worked (*i.e.*, annual leave, sick leave, bereavement leave, civil leave, etc.).

<u>Section 7 - Emergency Call-Back</u>: Whenever an employee is called back to work after completion of their regular work day, he/she shall be compensated according to the following scale:

(a)	Up to one hour worked.	One hour comp-time at one and one-half (1.5) times the regular hourly rate.
(b)	Up to one and one-half half (1.5) hours worked	Two hours comp-time at one and one- half $(1.5)$ times the regular hourly rate
(c)	Up to two (2) hours worked	Two and one-half $(2.5)$ hours comp-time at one and one-half $(1.5)$ times the regular hourly rate.

(d) Etc.

Emergency call-back time shall include the reasonable commuting time to and from the employee's residence. Emergency call-back provisions shall not be granted without prior approval for said emergency call-back by the employee's Division Director.

### **ARTICLE 11 - VACATIONS**

<u>Section 1</u>: Full-time employees shall be entitled to and shall be credited at the end of each calendar month of employment with the following amounts of vacation:

Years	Hours Per Month
0 - 1	8
1 - 2	9
2 - 4	10
4 - 7	11
7 - 10	12
10 - 13	13
13 - 16	14
16 - 19	15
19 - 22	16
22 - 25	18
25 plus	20

<u>Section 2</u>: Regular part-time employees are entitled to the same rate of vacation eligibility based on past years of employment as are full-time employees. However, their monthly accumulation of vacation credit will be in the same proportion as the number of hours they work each month divided by one hundred seventy four (174).

<u>Section 3</u>: Payment, carry-over or reinstatement of vacation credit earned during periods of employment of less than six (6) months in duration shall not be granted.

<u>Section 4</u>: An employee may take their vacation time off at any time subsequent to the employee's completion of the first six (6) months of their probationary period. Vacations in excess of five (5) days must be scheduled at least two (2) weeks in advance of the requested time off and are subject to approval by the Division Director. Vacation leaves of less than five (5) days should normally be requested at least three (3) days in advance. Whenever possible, leave requests shall be responded to within two (2) working days. Use of accumulated vacation time may include partial days off in units of not less than one-quarter (1/4) hour. Employees may not use earned vacation until they have completed the first six (6) months of their probationary period.

<u>Section 5</u>: An employee may, at their option, accumulate a maximum of three hundred (300) hours of vacation credit. Unused vacation credit will not be credited beyond three hundred (300) hours, unless the employee's vacation is deferred at the request of the Administrator or designee, and then only if the employee has filed and received approval of a request for deferral of vacation for a maximum of forty-five (45) calendar days beyond the date on which the employee has reached three hundred (300) hours vacation credit.

<u>Section 6</u>: An employee who is terminated at the option of the District or who voluntarily resigns or retires from their position and has given twenty-one (21) calendar days advance written notice of resignation or retirement shall be paid their straight-time rate for all credited hours of unused vacation time upon termination or retirement. An employee who voluntarily resigns or retires and who fails to give such notice twenty-one (21) days in advance of termination or retirement will

receive pay for their unused vacation credit at their regular straight-time hourly equivalent of the difference between the actual hours worked after notice and the hours he/she would have worked had he/she given twenty-one (21) calendar days advance notice and continued their regular work schedule. At its option, the District may release a terminating employee prior to expiration of the employee's 21-day notice upon the employee's request, in which case no reduction in the employee's vacation payoff would be made. An employee whose services are terminated before six (6) months of continuous employment is not eligible for payment of any accumulated vacation credit. Upon the death of an employee, their beneficiary shall be paid for unused annual leave at the rate being paid the employee at the time of death.

<u>Section 7</u>: If a holiday recognized under this Agreement falls on a normal working day during which the employee is on vacation the holiday shall not be counted against the employee's vacation account.

<u>Section 8</u>: Employment which begins on or before the fifteenth (15th) day of any month will be credited with one (1) day of vacation; employment which begins after the fifteenth (15th) day of any month will be credited with one half day of vacation.

### **ARTICLE 12- HOLIDAYS**

<u>Section 1</u>: The District and the Union agree that the following are holidays with pay:

- New Year's DayJanMartin Luther King Jr.'s Birthday3rdWashington's Birthday3rdWashington's Birthday3rdMemorial DayLasJuneteenthJunIndependence DayJulyLabor DayIstVeteran's DayNoThanksgiving Day4thDay Immediately Following ThanksgivingDeeOne (1) Personal HolidayOne (1) District-wide Floating Holiday
  - January 1st 3rd Monday in January 3rd Monday in February Last Monday in May June 19th July 4th 1st Monday in September November 11th 4th Thursday in November

December 25th

<u>Section 2</u>: Each employee shall be entitled to one (1) personal holiday after six (6) months of employment. In order for the employee to use said personal holiday, he/she must provide the District with sufficient prior written notice so that the District can properly plan for continuity of service. Management will decide the sufficiency of notice in its own discretion. Employees must take the one (1) personal holiday within the calendar year in which it was earned or lose it.

For each calendar year, Management will decide on one (1) District-wide holiday.

<u>Section 3</u>: If a holiday falls on a Saturday, it shall be observed on the preceding Friday. If a holiday falls on a Sunday, it shall be observed on the following Monday.

<u>Section 4</u>: All work performed on a holiday shall be compensated at two and one-half (2.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate.

<u>Section 5</u>: Should the Division Director determine that work on a holiday is necessitated, the Director may assign employees to perform said work. Work performed on holidays shall be on a voluntary basis within a classification first, or if there are no volunteers,, assigned to the least senior employee within a classification second.

<u>Section 6</u>: For an employee to receive holiday pay, the employee must be in pay status on the work day before and the work day after a holiday.

<u>Section 7</u>: An irregular part-time or temporary employee shall not be entitled to a floating holiday or to other paid holidays.

### **ARTICLE 13 - SICK LEAVE**

<u>Section 1</u>: Each regular full time employee shall accumulate eight (8) hours of sick leave per month credited at the end of each calendar month. Each regular part-time employee shall accumulate sick leave in proportion to their hours worked per month based on 8 hours for every one hundred seventy four (174) hours worked per calendar month and credited at the end of each month. An employee may accumulate a maximum of 600 hours.

<u>Section 2</u>: Sick leave with pay shall be allowed an employee who is incapacitated due to illness or injury or when necessary for medical or dental examination or treatment of the employee or for illness in the immediate family. For Purposes of this Article "immediate family" shall be interpreted to mean the following persons related to the employee by blood, marriage or legal adoption (spouse, state registered domestic partnership, children, parents, siblings and grandparents, but shall exclude aunts, uncles and cousins). Those family terms shall be as defined by RCW 49.12.270 Section 2 (effective January 1, 2003) and the term child as defined by RCW 49.12.265. State registered domestic partnership criteria as set forth in RCW 26.60.030. Sick leave may be used as it is accrued. Sick leave may be used to assist with illness care or birth of a grandchild subject to prior approval by the District based on the circumstances and the workload on a case-by-case basis.

<u>Section 3 - Sick Leave Abuse</u>: The parties recognize that sick leave is to be used for genuine sickness and is not accrued earned leave as is vacation leave. The parties further agree that the use of sick leave as "wellness" time is not acceptable under any circumstances. Improper use of sick leave constitutes just cause for disciplinary action.

BFHD has the right to request documentation from the Union member's health care provider establishing the need/basis for absence from work due to a medical condition of the Union member or the Union member's minor child (or for other reasons set forth in Section 2 of this Article). The Union member shall provide said documentation if requested by the District. Such documentation from the Union member's health care provider shall reflect sufficient information to allow the District to determine whether the absence was justified, but said documentation need not reveal the specific diagnosis. The District's right to request such documentation for sick leave requested is subject to the following conditions:

- (a) The District has a reasonable suspicion that the Union member has misused sick leave based on the provisions of this Article or,
- (b) The District has identified a suspicious pattern of sick leave usage (<u>*e.g.*</u>, repeated absences in conjunction with weekends and/or holidays); or,
- (c) A Union member has had five (5) sick leave occurrences in a rolling six-month period. A single occurrence shall be construed to mean one or more consecutive days off for the same illness, or in the case of care for immediate family members, the number of days involved in each illness episode, during which the Union member would otherwise have been scheduled to work, except if the provisions of subparagraph (a) or (b) above are applicable.

If in response to a request for documentation the Union member is unable to immediately provide satisfactory documentation of the use of sick leave consistent with the provisions of Section 2 of this Article, the District may require the Union member to seek such documentation from the Union member's health care provider as soon as reasonably possible in order to establish the validity of the request for sick leave and the absence from work due to a medical condition of the Union member or the Union member's minor child or for the other reasons set forth in this Article. If the Union member is still unable to provide such documentation within a reasonable period of time, then the matter will be reviewed further with the employee. In any event, the District shall have the right to mandate that the affected Union member provide satisfactory documentation with respect to any future sick leave requests for a reasonable period of time inclusive of up to one (1) year and the Union member will be notified of such requirement and will comply with such requirement. Non-compliance will result in disciplinary action. The satisfactory documentation need not reveal the specific diagnosis but must include sufficient information to allow the District to make a reasonable assessment of the validity of a sick leave request.

It is recognized that, at any time, a Union member may be subject to progressive discipline for falsifying documentation or being absent from work without appropriate documentation ( $\underline{e.g.}$ , medical documentation or prior approval by the employee's division director) consistent with the reasons identified in this Article or for use of sick leave for reasons other than those set forth in this Article.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article as they pertain to sick leave and the necessity of documentation to support such sick leave, the provisions of this Article do not redefine nor do they alter the District's right to discipline for absenteeism. Productivity and efficiency of service is essential to the continued viability of the Health District.

<u>Section 4</u>: An employee on sick leave must report daily, early in the day, to their supervisor or Division Director or to the Human Resources Manager if the supervisor and director are unavailable. It is understood that when an employee is hospitalized or on an extended sick leave, daily reporting will not be required.

<u>Section 5</u>: An employee with a year or more of service will receive pay for twenty-five percent (25%) of accumulated sick leave based upon the rate of pay at the time of termination. Employees terminated for cause shall not receive any pay for accumulated sick leave.

<u>Section 6</u>: Upon an employee's death, the employee's beneficiary will receive payment for all accumulated sick leave based upon the employee's rate of pay at the time of death.

Section 7: Sick leave shall continue to accrue during paid leaves of absence.

<u>Section 8</u>: If an employee is injured or taken ill while on paid vacation or compensatory time off, he/she shall notify the Division Director on the first day of such disability, either by telephone or telegraph or by letter postmarked the first day of the disability. If it is physically impossible to give the required notice on the first day, notice shall be sent as soon as possible. In that case, the notice shall be accompanied by a showing of acceptable reason for the delay.

In order for the employee to be compensated under their sick leave account for illness or disability suffered while on vacation or compensatory time off, a doctor's statement or other acceptable proof of illness or disability must be presented to the Division Director upon the employee's return to work.

<u>Section 9</u>: Whenever an employee is injured on the job and their condition demands immediate medical treatment, the employee will be compensated in full for the remaining part of the day of injury without effect to their sick leave or vacation account, subject to approval by the Division Director.

Employees injured on the job and on Worker's Compensation leave shall have return rights to their former position for a period of three months from their last day worked. At the discretion of the Administrator return rights may be extended.

<u>Section 10</u>: The parties agree that an employee may donate annual leave hours to another employee who is suffering from a serious illness or serious injury, both as determined by the Administrator. An employee may donate eight (8) hours of sick leave per year to another employee on an hour-for-hour basis not based on pay.

# ARTICLE 14 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

<u>Section 1</u>: Up to five (5) days off with pay not chargeable to the employee's sick leave or vacation account may be allowed an employee if said employee suffers a death in their immediate family.

<u>Section 2</u>: Upon prior approval of the employee's Division Director, up to five (5) additional days may be used from the sick leave or vacation account of the employee.

<u>Section 3</u>: Upon prior approval of the employee's Division Director, sick or vacation leave may be used in order to attend the funeral in the case of a death outside the employee's immediate family.

<u>Section 4</u>: Except as limited above, any time off for bereavement leave purposes needs prior approval by the employee's Division Director or the Administrator prior to the use of such time.

<u>Section 5</u>: For purposes of this Article, "immediate family" shall be interpreted to mean persons related to an employee by blood, marriage or legal adoption (spouse, state registered domestic partnership, children, parents, siblings and grandparents, but shall exclude aunts, uncles and cousins), and any person living in the employee's household for whose financial or physical care the employee is principally responsible. State registered domestic partnership criteria as set forth in RCW 26.60.030 and child as defined in RCW 49.12.265, regardless of age.

### **ARTICLE 15 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

<u>Section 1</u>: Civil Leave with pay shall be allowed to permit an employee to serve as a juror or to testify in any federal, state or municipal court when a subpoena compels such testimony. An employee must notify their Division Director, show proof of compulsion, and make necessary arrangements prior to taking civil leave. When an employee receives any payment fee for service as a juror or witness, the amount of payment received by said employee shall be deducted from their check by the District, exclusive of mileage and meals. Any employee who would otherwise be prevented from voting in a primary, general or special election due to extended hours of work shall be allowed sufficient time off with pay for voting purposes.

Section 2: Military Leave shall be granted in accordance with RCW 38.40.

Section 3: Military Family Leave shall be granted in accordance with RCW 49.77.

<u>Section 4</u>: Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking Leave shall be granted subject to the provisions of RCW 49.76.

<u>Section 5</u>: Family and Medical Leave: The Employees shall be entitled to family medical leave as provided under the Federal Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the Washington Family Care Act, or other applicable laws Employees are required to exhaust all accrued paid leave (sick leave, comp time, annual, etc.) before becoming eligible for unpaid leave under this section, except forty (40) hours annual leave may be retained. In no event shall an employee be entitled to combined leave time for FMLA purposes of over twelve (12) weeks. On an exception basis, the Administrator may grant up to an additional twelve (12) weeks of parental leave beyond the FMLA limits. FMLA leave is intended to conform to changes in the law inclusive of limited eligibility depending on circumstances affecting the District, of the use of such leave for the care of parentsin-law and grandparents.

Eligible employees on family and medical leave shall have their health insurance benefits continued by the Health District for the term of the leave at the same levels as if the employee were not on family and medical leave. Additionally, under certain circumstances outlined by federal law, an employee may be entitled to take leave on an intermittent basis.

<u>Section 6:</u> Paid Family and Medical Leave: Chapter 50A.04 RCW provides that Washington will have paid family leave available to employees beginning January 1, 2020. Paid Family and Medical Leave is a mandatory statewide insurance program.

Employees are required to pay their portion of the premium for paid family & medical leave by payroll deduction. Paid family medical leave premiums shall be paid by the employee and the employer in accordance with the current RCW provisions in terms of percentages of contributions. The Employer's share is approximately thirty seven percent (37%) of the premium and the Employee's share is approximately sixty three percent (63% of the premium paid by payroll deduction. These premium contributions shall commence January 1, 2019. The first payment to ESD is due April 30, 2019. Only as an example, if an employee had a monthly wage of \$3,000 the statutory percentage of 0.4% of wages would equate to \$12.00/Employee share would be \$7.56 and the Employer share would be \$4.44. The Human Resources Manager will determine the final calculation applicable to each employee based on guidance from Employment Security Department.

<u>Section 7</u>: Other Leaves of Absence: Any employee may take leave of absence without pay provided the District grants prior written approval of such leave. No leave of absence shall be permitted unless the employee has first expended all accumulated annual leave.

<u>Section 8</u>: Return From Leave of Absence: At the expiration of authorized leave of absence of not more than three (3) months, employees shall resume their same class of work. At the expiration of authorized leave of absence in excess of three (3) months, an employee shall only be entitled, upon approval of the Administrator, to their former position or a similar position in the same or lower class if such position is available.

Seniority, status or pay step, except for pay increments to the salary schedule, shall be frozen at the commencement of the leave of absence and shall not continue to accrue until and if the employee returns from said leave. An employee during leave without pay may continue medical, dental, vision and life insurance benefits provided such employee makes satisfactory arrangements for payment of premiums. (Note: The District will continue to cover District paid premiums for medical coverage while an employee is on leave under FMLA)

<u>Section 9</u>: At the discretion of the Administrator, leaves with or without pay may be granted for attending professional meetings, conventions, symposia, workshops, college short courses, etc.

<u>Section 10</u>: Employees may use up to two (2) days leave (annual leave or comp-time at the employee's discretion) when they are unable to report for scheduled work because of inclement weather. The employee must seek prior approval from District management before using these days, except in extreme circumstances (*i.e.*, Mt. St. Helen's).

# **ARTICLE 16 - INSURANCE BENEFITS**

<u>Section 1</u>: The District will contribute the following percentages toward the average medical insurance costs, as determined by the Employer, not including the consumer directed health care plans, for employees and dependents:

Employees – 85% Employee + Spouse – 80% Employee + Child(ren) – 80% Full Family – 80% The "average medical insurance" cost will be determined by computing the average cost of the medical plans, not including the consumer directed health care plans, offered by the District's provider. The calculations shall be determined by the District's Human Resources Manager. The Manager's calculations shall be final and binding on the parties. These provisions are not subject to the grievance procedures. These calculations shall be reflected in Appendix B.

Effective January 1, 2022 until December 31, 2024, the parties agree to share equally the increase in insurance premiums. The revised contributions shall be calculated by the Human Resources Manager.

The employee's share of the premiums necessary to pay for insurance coverages shall be carried out by payroll deduction. If the premiums for any coverages decrease then the Employer's contribution obligation is limited to the lesser premium rate.

If the applicable insurance companies or brokers notify the District of changes in benefit levels or coverages, then the District shall request negotiations regarding benefit and coverage changes and the Union shall agree to negotiate with the District concerning proposed benefit modifications.

<u>Section 2</u>: The District agrees to maintain professional liability insurance to cover District employees while they are performing their duties. The amount of coverage shall be as determined by the Administrator and the Health Board.

<u>Section 3</u>: The District shall provide copies of health, medical and life insurance benefit brochures, including a summary of professional liability coverage amount, to all employees of the District.

<u>Section 4</u>: The District shall make a monthly deposit into the MSA/VEBA equal to (1%) of the employee's regular monthly salary. This section is subject to the provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 4 above.

<u>Section 5</u>: Eligible employees who elect not to participate in any medical plan offered by the District must comply with PEBB guidelines and complete a PEBB Employee Enrollment/Change form to effectively waive medical coverage. For the calendar year 2023 and 2024 those employees who have waived medical coverage offered by the District, the District will provide a \$50.00 per month contribution deposited to the Health Reimbursement Arrangement Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association (HRA VEBA) plan. These provisions are not subject to the grievance procedures. This section is subject to the provisions of Sections 2, 3 and 4 above.

<u>Section 6</u>: The District provides an Employee Assistance Program and reserves the right to change such program, from time to time, and further reserves the right to terminate such program if budget constraints necessitate.

Section 7: The District will carry out the payroll deduction for the employee's contribution towards the WA Cares Fund (Long-Term Care Fund) as established by the Washington State Long-Term Services and Supports Trust Program RCW 50b.04.

#### **ARTICLE 17 - RETIREMENT**

<u>Section 1</u>: All eligible employees shall be covered by the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS).

### **ARTICLE 18 - GENERAL CONDITIONS**

Section 1 Certification:

- A. The District will pay for the cost of certification testing for Hematocrit Certification for those positions for which certifications are required as a condition of work performance.
- B. Required Certifications in Environmental Health:

(1) All new and existing employees must obtain certification(s) as required by the District which relate to the performance of their duties within two (2) years of employment in the program for which the District and/or the law requires such certification or within the timeframe mandated by legislation and/or applicable laws, whichever is applicable and sooner.

(2) The District shall pay the certification and/or renewal fee. The District may allow employees to take applicable training and exams on paid time status; provided, however, the District has the sole discretion to make this decision on a case-by-case non precedent basis. Any other costs and/or expenses associated with preparation for examination for initial certification and/or any renewal of certification, such as study time, shall be the responsibility of the employee. Employees may utilize the education allowance subject to the terms of Article 28, Section 1.

(3) Failure to obtain certification and/or renewal on a timely basis as determined by the District as set forth above and as set forth in legislation and/or the law will result in disciplinary action pursuant to Article 22 up to and including discharge/termination. In addition, any re-testing and/or fees associated with failures to obtain certification and/or renewal will be the sole responsibility of the employee. Exceptions may be reviewed on a case-by-case basis as determined by the Division Director.

(4) Upon certification if an employee leaves employment prior to fifty percent (50%) of the certification period having expired, then the employee shall reimburse the District for the fee paid by the District. Said reimbursement shall occur by payroll deduction from the employee's last check.

<u>Section 2 Clothing and Uniforms</u>: The District may provide employees with protective clothing or uniforms. In the event the District chooses to provide employees with protective clothing or uniforms, said employees agree that they shall wear said protective clothing or uniforms as a condition of employment with the District. The District will provide Environmental Health Inspectors, liquid waste personnel and food surveillance personnel with an annual shoe allowance

of up to seventy-five (\$75.00) dollars. Shoe allowance purchases are intended to be used solely for department related work purposes. The shoe allowance shall be for a maximum of one (1) pair of work designed, safety reinforced type of shoe per calendar year.

<u>Section 3 Transportation</u>: The District agrees to provide transportation or to reimburse employees for the use of their own automobiles on District business. Any changes in mileage compensation will be administered and processed in compliance with the Office of Financial Management (OFM) applicable rate.

<u>Section 4 Travel Reimbursement</u>: Reimbursement for travel related to official business shall be in accordance with the District's travel policy. The District shall reimburse the employee on a per diem basis for necessary expenses in travel if said expenses are related to official business. Arrangements for such reimbursement must be made and approved by the Division Director or Administrator prior to such expenses being incurred.

<u>Section 5 Safety Committee</u>: There shall be formed a safety committee to meet and discuss issues of safety and well being and make recommendations on such issues. Said committee shall be formed in compliance with the Washington Administrative Code (WAC) Chapter 296-800 (296-800-130, et seq). The committee shall meet on a quarterly basis each year; however, the committee may meet more often to discuss safety problems that require more immediate attention.

<u>Section 6 Remote Location</u>: Whenever an employee is covered by this Agreement is temporarily assigned by their Division Director or Administrator to work (*i.e.*, perform their regular duties) at a location greater than twenty (20) miles from their normal place of employment, any time less meal time, consumed in travel to and from the new location, shall be considered part of the work day. Employee's schedules should be adjusted to allow for travel during normal work hours whenever possible, however, should it be necessary for an employee to travel outside the employee's regular working hours, said time shall be compensated at the applicable overtime rate upon prior approval of the Division Director, or, after requesting prior overtime approval and said approval is denied, the employee elects to work overtime, no compensation for said overtime will be granted by the District. This Section does not apply to travel to attend workshops or professional conferences.

<u>Section 7 Board of Health Meetings</u>: In the event that the District continues to conduct its meetings during employee's regular working hours, the District shall compensate one (1) bargaining unit member at their regular rate of pay for all time spent attending board meetings.

# **ARTICLE 19 - CLASSIFICATION**

<u>Section 1</u>: Individual positions or sets of duties performed by a given employee shall be allocated to a job classification. Job classifications are written statements as to the definition, typical duties and minimum qualifications for positions sharing common characteristics.

<u>Section 2</u>: Employees shall not normally be assigned duties foreign to their job classification and specifications; however, employees may be assigned to perform duties which are incidental to their

classification. Incidental duties shall mean only those duties which are related to the employee's job classification and specification.

<u>Section 3</u>: Working a higher classification for training purposes shall not be in violation of Section 2 above, provided such training shall not exceed three (3) calendar months duration. During such training, employees shall not be paid above their regular rate of pay. An employee shall be worked in training status only one (1) time for each job classification. The Supervisor or Division Director shall officially note the start of such training period.

<u>Section 4</u>: Effective January 1, 2012, when an employee is temporarily assigned by the Supervisor or Division Director to perform duties at a higher classification for one (1) consecutive hour or more, he/she shall be compensated at the step of the higher rate for the higher classification that provides for a minimum of a one step increase. This provision does not apply to employees in training as provided for in Section 3 above.

<u>Section 5</u>: An employee may be temporarily assigned the duties of a lower classification without suffering a reduction in pay.

<u>Section 6</u>: Job specifications for classifications shall be those mutually accepted by the parties at the time of negotiation of the collective bargaining agreement.

<u>Section 7</u>: Classifications assigned hereto shall be in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement unless District Management determines it is necessary to change a classification and such change does not substantially alter the duties, responsibilities, definition and minimum qualifications previously indicated in prior job classifications. Maintaining accreditation will require revisions to class specifications to include core competencies and other functional requirements.

<u>Section 8</u>: The District agrees to consult with the Union before it makes any substantial changes in the class specifications covered in the classifications listed in the attached appendix, provided, however, the District agrees it will not make any substantial change in said class specifications that would result in the elimination of jurisdiction of the Union (*i.e.*, changing a bargaining unit position to an exempt position, etc.).

<u>Section 9</u>: Where the District wishes to create a new classification, the following procedure shall apply:

- (a) The District shall set forth in writing its proposal and salary assigned and forward same to the Union by certified mail and email. Within three (3) days after such mailing, the proposal will be deemed to have been received by the Union.
- (b) The Union may review the proposed classification and the salary range for twenty (20) calendar days following receipt thereof. During this period, the Union shall notify the District as to agreement or non-agreement on the proposed classification and salary range. If agreement is reached, it will remain in effect unless changed in negotiations for a new collective bargaining agreement.

(c) If no agreement is reached, the District shall make the final decision.

<u>Section 10</u>: The parties agree that classification reviews shall not result in any salary downgrade for existing employees. In cases of position downgrade, salaries shall be "Y-rated" and remain in effect until changes in the salary range structure warrant an increase.

An employee who continues in a position which is reallocated downward shall be paid an amount equal to his/her previous salary. Employees whose current salary falls between two steps or exceeds the top step of the new position shall be Y-rated.

The Y-rated employee shall retain their existing periodic increment date provided the salary is not equal or greater than the maximum of the lower sub-range. Employees whose salaries are Y-rated between steps will move to the first dollar amount step for the class in the lower sub-range on their periodic increment date.

<u>Section 11</u>: The parties understand and agree that the following classifications are supervisory employees: Clerk-Typist III, Clerk-Stenographer III, Environmental Health Specialist III, Environmental Health Specialist IV, Microbiologist III, Microbiologist IV, Nutritionist III, and Nutritionist IV. These employees have an affirmative duty to provide supervisory guidance and to make supervisory decisions as relates to subordinate employees.

### **ARTICLE 20 - HIRING, PROMOTIONS & TRANSFERS**

<u>Section 1</u>: Whenever it is necessary to fill position vacancies, the following procedure shall be used:

- (a) A description of the vacancy shall be posted for four (4) working days or longer as determined to be necessary and reasonable by District management prior to the intended filling date of the position. It shall be posted in a place conspicuous to employees in the bargaining unit.
- (b) Such description shall have additional information describing the job and the desired qualifications for it for the information of the applicants.
- (c) Employee applications shall follow procedures established by District management.
- (d) A current employee shall respond to the Human Resources Department in writing expressing their interest in any job posting. The Human Resources Manager may request further job relevant information such as qualifications or experience. The employee may provide additional relevant information to Human Resources.
- (e) An employee who is on vacation or authorized leave of absence during the posting period shall be permitted to make application within two (2) days after return to work; however, said application need not be accepted by the District if it is received more than fifteen (15) calendar days after the vacancy is first posted, inclusive of the four (4) day posting period.

- (f) Preference for filling vacancies and new positions created during the term of this Agreement may be given permanent employees having the necessary minimum qualifications as defined in the job specifications, except as restricted by the Layoff Article of this Agreement. District management shall determine which applicant is to be selected to fill vacancies or new positions. District management shall take into consideration experience, job knowledge, past performance and seniority; however, where experience, job knowledge and past performance are relatively equal as determined by District management, the seniority will apply.
- (g) In the event of a public health emergency, the District may temporarily suspend the above hiring procedure. The District will provide the employees with twelve (12) hours notice if possible.

New employees or existing employees who are selected to fill vacancies or new positions must fulfill a six (6) month probationary period. The probationary period may be extended up to three (3) months. The District shall give ten (10) working days notice, including a letter of expectation, to the employee and five (5) working days notice to the Union Representative. The letter of expectation shall provide a written action plan. During the entire probationary period, a new employee may be terminated without reason. Existing employees may be returned to their former position if they do not perform satisfactorily.

Upon successful completion of the probationary status, the employee shall be given permanent status in that position.

<u>Section 2</u>: Promotions will be based on experience, job knowledge, past performance and seniority. District management shall determine which employee shall be promoted. District management shall take into consideration experience, job knowledge, past performance and seniority; however, when experience, job knowledge and past performance are relatively equal as determined by District management, then seniority will apply.

<u>Section 3</u>: Promotion is an employee's reassignment under the provisions of this Agreement to a position having a higher salary range. On the date of promotion, an employee is entitled to the higher of:

- (a) First step of the range for their new job class.
- (b) Advancement to the step of the range for the new class which most closely approximates five percent (5%) more than their previous salary.

On the first of the month nearest six (6) months following the date of promotion, the employee progresses again to the salary step closest to five percent (5%) above the step which was gained on the date of promotion, provided that the employee may not progress beyond the top step of the range for their class. This second progression date becomes the employee's "step-increase date." Subsequent step increases within the range are at annual intervals and each step shall be to the step closest to five percent (5%) above the previous step, and which does not exceed the top of the range.

The first six (6) months after promotion are probationary during which time the employee may be returned to their former position.

This provision shall not apply to work performed during the six (6) month training period as provided for in Article 19.

If an employee would otherwise have received a step increase on the same day as a promotion, demotion, reclassification upwards or downwards, or a range adjustment, the step increase will be considered to have occurred before any of the other actions.

<u>Section 4</u>: Permanent transfers of employees to a new or different permanent work site beyond a twenty (20) mile radius of their present permanent work site (*i.e.*, Richland to Prosser) shall be by mutual consent. Provided, however, if no qualified volunteer comes forward, then the least senior employee with the necessary qualification in the classification of the position to be filled, as determined by the Administrator, shall be so assigned.

# ARTICLE 21 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

<u>Section 1</u>: The Public Health District Administrator shall be the sole determiner of when layoffs are necessary. The District may only lay off employees when such action is made necessary by reason of lack of work, lack of funds or a good faith reorganization.

<u>Section 2</u>: The District shall give fifteen (15) working days notice, or pay in lieu of notice not to exceed fifteen (15) days' at straight time pay, to designated employees during which time the employee and the Union may suggest alternatives to the action.

<u>Section 3</u>: An employee whose position is abolished may:

- (a) Transfer to a vacant position, if one exists, in the same classification.
- (b) Bump the employee with the least seniority in the same classification;
- (c) Bump the employee with the least seniority in a progressively lower classification within the same class series or into a classification series the employee was previously employed in by the District,(Example a Health Services Worker previously employed as a Clerk-Typist could bump into a Clerk-Typist position);
- (d) Bump the employee with the least seniority outside of their series but within their reduction-in-force unit, for which they meet the minimum qualifications (see below);
- (e) An employee is only permitted to bump a progressively lower classification in their series or RIF unit, for which they meet the minimum qualifications. Under no circumstances will an employee be permitted to bump up to a higher classification.
- (f) The "bumped" employee has the same rights to bumping as outlined above;

- (g) For the purpose of section (d) above, classes will be grouped in the following RIF units: (NOTE: classification = EHS 2, class series = EHS 1, 2, 3, 4
  - (i) Licensed Practical Nurse 1,2
  - (ii) Environmental Health Tech 1, 2 Environmental Health Specialists 1, 2, 3, 4

Microbiologist 1, 2, 3, 4 Laboratory Technician 1, 2

- (iii) Clerk-Typist/Receptionist 1, 2 Clerk-Stenographer 1, 2 Clerical Supervisor 1, 2, 3 Accounting Assistant 1, 2, 3
- (iv) Nutritionist 1, 2, 3, 4 Nutrition Aide 1, 2
- (v) Peer Counselor
- (vi) Social Worker 1, 2
- (vii) Epidemiologist
- (viii) Public Health Educator Health Services Worker 1, 2 Health Outreach Worker
- (viiii) Assessment Coordinator 1, 2

If Management makes a good faith determination that an employee lacks the ability and/or attitude and professionalism to effectively and efficiently perform the work given a layoff situation based on a disciplinary record of a serious offense and/or serious offenses, that employee shall not have the right to bump a less senior employee.

Employees shall not be permitted to bump employees outside of the bargaining unit and nonbargaining unit employees, including employees who formerly served in the bargaining unit, shall not be permitted to bump back into the bargaining unit.

The bumping employee will move to the salary step in the classification to which they bumped at a salary level closest to their current salary.

<u>Section 4</u>: Laid off employees may be eligible for re-employment to open positions they held when they were laid off as long as they keep the employer informed of their current address. This applies for a period of one (1) year from the date of layoff. Any offer of eligibility for re-

employment will be in writing and sent by certified mail to the employee. The employee shall be deemed to have received the notice within three (3) days after the District mails the notice.

An employee so notified must indicate their acceptance of said re-employment within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of notice and shall be back on the job within thirty (30) days of acceptance of said offer or forfeit all call-back rights under this Article.

<u>Section 5</u>: Employees recalled from layoff shall not lose previously accumulated seniority or time in service, accrued vacation or sick leave provided all other provisions of this Article are complied with, including that the employee must be re-employed within one (1) year to retain these callback rights and that the employee has successfully completed their six (6) months probationary period. However, employees shall not have vacation time or sick leave time reinstated where the employee has been compensated for said time by the District as a result of the layoff.

<u>Section 6</u>: For the purposes of this Article only, seniority is defined to be the length of employment since employee's hire date into their current classification. In cases of part-time employees or employees with the same hire date total hours paid shall be calculated to determine seniority. Existing employees of the District will retain seniority for all other Articles (*i.e.*, vacation, promotion, etc.).

# **ARTICLE 22 - DISCIPLINE**

<u>Section 1</u>: The Administrator or his designee may reprimand, suspend, demote or discharge an employee for just cause including the following causes, but not limited thereto:

- (a) Neglect of duty;
- (b) Inefficiency;
- (c) Insubordination;
- (d) Incompetence;
- (e) Insolence;
- (f) Conviction and/or plea bargain of any crime which would have an adverse affect on the employee's work, working within the District, reflect detrimentally on the District and/or working with fellow employees;
- (g) Malfeasance or misfeasance;
- (h) Misconduct;
- (i) Violation of rules or regulations;
- (j) Violation of the No Strike Clause in Article XXVII hereof;
- (k) Cash handling shortage;
- (m) Failure to maintain, suspension of and/or loss/revocation of certification(s) and/or license (s) to perform the essential functions of the job; and
- (n) Any other just causes inclusive of, but not limited to, those supported by grievance arbitration cases.

<u>Section 2</u>: An informal meeting between an employee and their Supervisor, and/or his/her Division Director, and/or the Administrator may be held to discuss a personnel problem prior to any formal meeting regarding the discussion of possible disciplinary action. The Supervisor and/or Division Director and/or Administrator may place a copy of notes regarding such meeting in the employee's personnel file with a copy to the employee.

Employees shall have the right to Union representation in any meeting regarding the discussion of possible disciplinary action. If an employee desires Union representation, said employee shall be provided reasonable time to arrange Union representation. Such representation may include a Steward or Union Representative as is appropriate and timely to the situation. Prior to such a meeting, the Supervisor involved shall notify the employee of the employee's right to such representation.

<u>Section 3</u>: In order of increasing severity, the disciplinary actions which the District may take against an employee include:

- (a) Verbal warning;
- (b) Written reprimand;
- (c) Suspension;
- (d) Demotion; and
- (e) Discharge or termination.

Which disciplinary action is taken depends upon the seriousness of the affected employee's conduct as determined by the Administrator or his designee.

<u>Section 4</u>: In cases where suspension without pay, demotion or discharge is contemplated by the District, the employee shall have the right to a pre-disciplinary action meeting with a Union Representative present. The meeting will be scheduled on a date and time mutually convenient to the parties taking into consideration potential for the need to deal with the issues on an emergent basis. The purpose of the meeting is to provide the employee the opportunity to respond to allegations made against them. Prior to such a meeting and included with the notice of predisciplinary action meeting will be a written summary of allegations provided to the employee and copied to the Union Representative. However, this summary of allegations shall not be construed to limit nor to prevent the admissibility and applicability of any subsequently discovered evidence of violation(s) and/or misconduct by the District. The District will issue a final determination of the disciplinary action within a reasonable period of time from the meeting except if further investigation is needed in which case a reasonable time after the further investigation is concluded.

<u>Section 5</u>: When circumstances are such that retention of the employee will likely result in disruption of District programs, damage to or loss of District property or be injurious to the District employee, fellow employees or the clientele of the District, the Administrator or his designee may immediately suspend an employee with pay pending the outcome of the investigation. Upon conclusion of the District's investigation, if the discipline contemplated could be a suspension without pay, demotion or discharge, the District will issue a notice of pre-disciplinary action meeting.

<u>Section 6</u>: The Administrator or his designee may demote an employee to the next lower classification in his classification series for cause as specified in this Article.

### **ARTICLE 23 - UNION REPRESENTATIVES**

<u>Section 1</u>: The Union shall, within ten (10) days after the signing of this Agreement, provide the name(s) of Steward(s) to the District and notify the District of changes in a timely manner.

The Steward shall see that the provisions of this Agreement are observed and shall be allowed reasonable work time to do so.

<u>Section 2</u>: The Union Representative shall have access to the office during business hours, providing they do not interfere or cause employees to neglect their work.

<u>Section 3</u>: The District and the Union agree to share the expense of providing copies of this Agreement to new employees and all existing employees.

<u>Section 4</u>: The District shall provide bulletin board space in each office for use of the Union in areas accessible to members of the bargaining unit.

### ARTICLE 24 - CONFERENCE COMMITTEE

<u>Section 1</u>: The District and the Union agree to establish a joint conference committee consisting of three (3) employees including the Union representative(s) and three (3) District representatives including the Administrator and/or a representative. The purpose of this committee is to deal with matters of a group or District wide nature rather than individual concerns that are best addressed through the normal chain of command and contract enforcement procedures. Either the Union Representative or the District representative may initiate discussion of any subject affecting employees covered by this Agreement. Both parties agree that when either desires to call a meeting of the committee, they will inform the other party in writing stating the subjects they wish to discuss.

### **ARTICLE 25 - SAVINGS CLAUSE**

<u>Section 1</u>: If an Article of this Agreement or any addenda thereto is held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any Article is restrained by such tribunal, the remainder of this Agreement and addenda shall not be affected thereby, and the parties shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement of such Article.

### **ARTICLE 26- SUBORDINATION OF AGREEMENT**

<u>Section 1</u>: It is understood that the parties hereto and the employees of the District are governed by the provisions of applicable federal and state law. When any provision thereof are in conflict with or is different from the provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of said federal law or state law are paramount and shall prevail.

### ARTICLE 27 - NO WORK STOPPAGE AND NO LOCKOUT

<u>Section 1</u>: The District and the Union agree that the public interest requires the efficient and uninterrupted performance of all District services, and to this end pledge their best efforts to avoid or eliminate any conduct contrary to this objective. Neither the Union nor the employees shall cause, condone or participate in any strike or work stoppage, slow down or other interference with District functions by employees under this Agreement, and should same occur, the Union agrees to take appropriate steps to end such interference. District employees who engage in any of the

above-referenced activities shall not be entitled to any pay and/or benefits during the period in which he/she is engaged in such activity. Employees covered by this Agreement who engage in any of the foregoing actions shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action as may be determined by the District. The determination as to whether disciplinary action shall be taken is one left to the sole discretion of District Management.

<u>Section 2</u>: It shall not be considered a violation of Section 1 above if employees covered by this Agreement refuse to cross a picket line where their physical health and safety will be jeopardized by doing so. However, said employee must thereafter report and confer with District management regarding the incident.

<u>Section 3</u>: The District agrees that there will be no lockouts during the term of this Agreement; however, the District reserves the right to keep District offices closed where the situation is such that opening the office to District employees would result in loss or damage to the District or District property.

# ARTICLE 28 - EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE

Section 1: At the discretion of the Administrator, leaves with or without pay may be granted for attending professional meetings, conventions, symposia, workshops, college short courses, etc. If the Administrator or Division Director approves of the professional meetings, conventions, etc., regular full time and part-time employees may be provided up to two hundred dollars (\$200.00) per year for purposes of attending educational meetings approved by the Administrator or Division Director provided the number of employees attending does not jeopardize District services. The terms "professional meetings, conventions, etc." is defined as those conducted to develop the skills and qualifications of the employee for the purpose of enhancing and upgrading work performance subject to the District's prior approval. Approval for the purchase of educational books and/or tapes may be granted as part of the Educational Assistance program, on the condition that funding is available as determined by the District and such materials become a shared resource for all employees. Employees may submit a written request using the Employer's form at least ninety (90) calendar days prior to December 31 indicating a desire to carry over the two hundred dollars (\$200) into the following year. If such a request is timely submitted, the employee shall be eligible for four hundred dollars (\$400) to use in the next year for purposes of workshops, seminars, and educational programs subject to the above provisions inclusive of transportation costs, lodging and meals. If the employee does not use the four hundred dollars (\$400) and timely submits a written request using the Employer's form then the employee will be eligible to carry over a maximum of two hundred dollars (\$200) into the third year. This carryover opportunity shall never exceed a total of two (2) years' accumulation of four hundred dollars (\$400). Said employee shall comply with all the District's travel policies. The employee shall submit to the Employer written proof of attendance by way of receipt(s) for expenses and certificate(s) of satisfactory completion to be eligible for the educational assistance.

# **ARTICLE 29 – FURLOUGH/TEMPORARY FUNDING EMERGENCY**

<u>Section 1</u>: A furlough is defined as placing employees in a temporary unpaid status during a temporary funding shortage, such as reduction in grants, outside funding resources and/or governmental shutdown at the Local, State and/or Federal levels. During this furlough period, the employees will maintain their employment status except for being in unpaid status. For example,

vacation leave accruals, sick leave accruals and pension benefits would remain unaffected at the levels when the furlough started. Seniority would remain unaffected and would continue during the furlough period. A furlough is intended to address temporary funding shortages not mismanagement of District funds or to fill breaks in fee-for-service inconsistencies.

In the event of a temporary funding emergency the Administrator or designee will provide notification to the Union within 48 hours of formal notification of a potential temporary funding interruption. Management will provide the union bargaining team with written notification to discuss furlough options. The parties will negotiate the effects within the time frame announced in the Administrator's or designee's notification and permitted in terms of when the reduction will take place. If the parties reach agreement during that time frame then such agreement shall be implemented. If the parties do not reach agreement then the Administrator or designee shall follow emergency provisions, such as minimum essential staff required, and in good faith will implement necessary and fiscally responsible actions based on the best interests of the Employer and the Employees. Upon the return of the funding source, employees impacted shall return to work under their previously held positions, unless otherwise bargained.

There may be other "effects" the parties may wish to address during the "effects" bargaining timeframe addressed above.

### **ARTICLE 30 - SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES AND EXPECTATIONS**

<u>Section 1:</u> Supervisors' duties shall be carried out in a professional manner, exhibiting support for the mission, goals, and directives of the Benton-Franklin Health District.

<u>Section 2:</u> Supervisors shall help manage resources in a responsible and fiscally sound manner. Supervisors shall carry out their supervisory responsibilities in an efficient, productive, and accountable manner.

<u>Section 3:</u> Supervisors are expected to consistently present the District's services in a professional manner to both the general public and staff. They are required to adhere to all written rules, codes, directives, policies, and procedures, with regard to enforcement action and service provisions, including explaining those written rules, codes, directives, policies, and procedures to the public and staff. Supervisors will explain all written rules, codes, directives, policies, and procedures to the public and staff in a consistent and professional manner, working collaboratively with the Administrator or designee, other managers, and staff members.

<u>Section 4:</u> Supervisors will work closely with direct reports and employees on resources and budget development for their programs.

Supervisors may participate, if directed by management, in confidential discussions with the Administrator or designee and other non-union staff members. Documents and discussions associated with agency wide budget, layoffs, and/or disciplinary actions are deemed confidential. The Administrator or designee will identify confidential topics or materials in writing during such a meeting. Disclosure of such confidential material shall not occur without express approval from the Administrator or designee.

<u>Section 5:</u> Supervisors will work with Human Resources to address personnel issues involving staff in a pro-active, private, and constructive manner. Supervisors are expected to follow through with personnel actions inclusive of disciplinary action, performance appraisals, and other personnel actions regarding staff members consistent with the directives of the Human Resources Manager or designee.

<u>Section 6:</u> It is important that Supervisors act professionally and present any potential questions and/or disagreements they might have regarding policies, procedures and the administration thereof directly to the appropriate Supervisor or Manager on a confidential basis; or in a Supervisors' only group meeting and/or venue designed for a purpose identified by the Administrator or designee on a confidential basis.

<u>Section 7:</u> Supervisors will comply with their class specifications, agency policies and the provisions of this Article and the CBA.

<u>Section 8:</u> Supervisors may be disciplined for misconduct(s) and/or violation(s) of this Article and other CBA provisions, in accordance with Article 22.

# **ARTICLE 31 - TERM OF AGREEMENT**

Section 1: This Agreement shall become effective January 1, 2023, except as otherwise indicated, and shall remain in effect until December 31, 2024.

Negotiations for a successor Agreement for 2025 and beyond are subject to the parties providing written notice of intent to modify this Agreement at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to December 31, 2024 except for the provisions of Article 16 and Article 24.

<u>Section 2</u>: Upon submission of such notice, negotiations shall begin no later than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration of this Agreement. If the parties have not reached agreement within sixty (60) days after negotiations commence, either party may request a mediator from the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC). The determination of the mediator from PERC shall be advisory only and not binding on either party.

<u>Section 3</u>: In the event that negotiations for a new Agreement extend beyond the anniversary date of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with Chapter 41.56 RCW.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to signed by their duly constituted and legal authorities this date set below the signature of each party.

#### BENTON-FRANKLIN DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT

#### PROFESSIONAL & TECHNICAL EMPLOYEES LOCAL 17

Chairperson, Board of Health	Executive Director
Dated:	Dated:
District Administrator	Union Representative
Dated:	Dated:
Human Resources Manager	Employee Representative
Dated:	Dated:
Represented by Anthony F. Menke Management Attorney Dated:	Employee Representative Dated:
	Employee Representative Dated:
	Employee Representative

Dated:

#### BENTON-FRANKLIN HEALTH DISTRICT

#### COMPENSATION PLAN - BARGAINING UNIT Professional Technical Employees Local 17 (PROTEC17) January 1 - December 31, 2023

<u>Class Title</u>	<u>Step A</u>	<u>Step B</u>	<u>Step C</u>	<u>Step D</u>	<u>Step E</u>	<u>Step F</u>	<u>Step G</u>	<u>Step H</u>
Clerical Supervisor I	3438	3609	3789	3978	4177	4386	4495	4608
Clerical Supervisor II	3775	3964	4162	4370	4589	4818	4938	5062
Clerical Supervisor III	4147	4356	4573	4802	5041	5293	5426	5561
Clerk-Typist I/Receptionist	2852	2994	3144	3301	3467	3554	3642	3733
Clerk-Typist II/Receptionist	3017	3169	3328	3494	3668	3760	3854	3950
Clerk-Typist III	3108	3264	3427	3598	3777	3966	4065	4166
Clerk-Stenographer I	3017	3169	3328	3494	3668	3760	3854	3950
Clerk-Stenographer II	3326	3492	3667	3850	4041	4142	4246	4352
Clerk-Stenographer III	3421	3593	3773	3962	4160	4368	4477	4589
Accounting Assistant I	2961	3110	3266	3428	3600	3780	3875	3971
Accounting Assistant II	3264	3427	3598	3777	3966	4165	4269	4376
Accounting Assistant III	3581	3759	3948	4146	4352	4569	4684	4801
Assessment Coordinator I	4587	4816	5058	5310	5576	5856	6002	6152
Assessment Coordinator II	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6772

#### BENTON-FRANKLIN HEALTH DISTRICT

#### COMPENSATION PLAN - BARGAINING UNIT Professional Technical Employees Local 17 (PROTEC17) January 1 - December 31, 2023

<u>Class Title</u>	<u>Step A</u>	<u>Step B</u>	<u>Step C</u>	<u>Step D</u>	<u>Step E</u>	<u>Step F</u>	<u>Step G</u>	<u>Step H</u>
Communication Coordinator	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6771
Public Health Educator	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6772
Nutritionist I	4587	4816	5058	5311	5576	5856	6002	6152
Nutritionist II	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6772
Nutritionist III	5551	5829	6120	6426	6748	7086	7263	7445
Nutritionist IV	6123	6430	6750	7088	7443	7814	8009	8209
Nutrition Tech I	3885	4078	4283	4496	4721	4958	5082	5209
Nutrition Tech II	4259	4472	4695	4930	5177	5435	5571	5710
Nutrition Aide I	3087	3240	3403	3574	3752	3846	3942	4041
Nutrition Aide II	3394	3563	3742	3928	4125	4228	4333	4442
Peer Counselor I	3087	3240	3403	3574	3752	3846	3942	4041
Peer Counselor II	3394	3563	3742	3928	4125	4228	4333	4442
Medical Assistant-Certified I	3636	3819	4009	4208	4421	4641	4757	4876
Medical Assistant-Certified II	3850	4043	4245	4456	4680	4914	5036	5162
Health Services Worker I	3313	3479	3652	3836	4027	4228	4334	4442

#### BENTON-FRANKLIN HEALTH DISTRICT

#### COMPENSATION PLAN - BARGAINING UNIT Professional Technical Employees Local 17 (PROTEC17) January 1 - December 31, 2023

<u>Class Title</u>	<u>Step A</u>	<u>Step B</u>	<u>Step C</u>	<u>Step D</u>	<u>Step E</u>	<u>Step F</u>	<u>Step G</u>	<u>Step H</u>
Health Services Worker II	3637	3819	4009	4209	4421	4641	4757	4876
Health Outreach Worker	3313	3479	3652	3836	4027	4228	4334	4442
Dental Hygienist I	4598	4827	5068	5321	5588	5867	6013	6164
Dental Hygienist II	5062	5314	5579	5858	6153	6458	6620	6785
Laboratory Technician I	3885	4078	4282	4496	4722	4958	5082	5209
Laboratory Technician II	4260	4471	4695	4930	5177	5436	5571	5711
Microbiologist I	4587	4816	5058	5311	5576	5856	6002	6152
Microbiologist II	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6772
Microbiologist III	5551	5829	6120	6426	6748	7086	7263	7445
Microbiologist IV	6123	6430	6750	7088	7443	7814	8009	8209
Social Worker I	4587	4816	5058	5311	5576	5850	5997	6146
Social Worker II	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6772
Epidemiologist	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6772
Policy Analyst/Planner	5202	5462	5734	6021	6321	6638	6804	6974
Licensed Practical Nurse I	3885	4078	4282	4496	4722	4958	5082	5209

#### BENTON-FRANKLIN HEALTH DISTRICT

#### COMPENSATION PLAN - BARGAINING UNIT Professional Technical Employees Local 17 (PROTEC17) January 1 - December 31, 2023

<u>Class Title</u>	<u>Step A</u>	<u>Step B</u>	<u>Step C</u>	<u>Step D</u>	<u>Step E</u>	<u>Step F</u>	<u>Step G</u>	<u>Step H</u>
Licensed Practical Nurse II	4260	4471	4695	4930	5177	5436	5571	5711
Environmental Health Tech I	3780	3969	4169	4377	4596	4825	4945	5069
Environmental Health Tech II	4162	4370	4587	4815	5058	5312	5444	5581
Environmental Health Spec I	4587	4815	5058	5311	5575	5856	6002	6153
Environmental Health Spec II	5051	5303	5567	5845	6137	6445	6606	6772
Environmental Health Spec III	5551	5829	6120	6426	6748	7086	7263	7445
Environmental Health Spec IV	6123	6430	6750	7088	7443	7814	8009	8209

Lead: Salary equivalent to 3% above the classification step of the salary range the employee is being paid at the time of the promotion to a Lead position.

7% COLA effective January 1, 2023 for Clerk-Typist, Clerk-Steno, Nutrition Aide, Peer Counselor classifications 5% COLA effective January 1, 2023 all other classifications

Step G 2.5%, over Step F Step H 2.5% over Step G, effective January 1, 2023

#### APPENDIX B

#### BENTON-FRANKLIN HEALTH DISTRICT AND PROTEC 17 HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUMS COST BREAKDOWN January 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023

Plan	EE Only			EE & Spouse / Partner			I	EE & Child(ren	ı)	Full Family		
	<u>Total</u>	District	Employee	<u>Total</u>	District	Employee	<u>Total</u>	District	Employee	<u>Total</u>	<u>District</u>	Employee
Kaiser Permanente Classic	1001.31	774.43	226.88	1844.94	1339.55	505.39	1634.03	1187.68	446.35	2477.66	1795.14	682.52
Kaiser Permanente Value	928.83	776.76	152.07	1699.98	1344.20	355.78	1507.19	1191.75	315.44	2278.34	1801.54	476.80
Uniform Classic	970.10	788.09	182.01	1782.52	1366.88	415.64	1579.42	1211.60	367.82	2391.84	1832.73	559.11
Uniform Select	893.87	769.09	124.78	1630.06	1339.86	290.20	1446.01	1184.58	261.43	2182.20	1845.71	336.49
Kaiser Permanente CDHP	864.62	772.56	92.06	1569.78	1337.64	232.14	1408.07	1185.78	222.29	2054.90	1793.21	261.69
Uniform CDHP	869.16	774.78	94.38	1578.86	1342.08	236.78	1416.02	1189.67	226.35	2067.39	1799.32	268.07

#### Medical Waived (Employer Cost Only) \$157.68

\$50 per month Spouse Surcharge may be added to premiums for Employee & Spouse and Full Family enrollment (Employee Cost) \$25 per month Tobacco Use Surcharge will be added to premiums for employees or dependants that use tobacco (Employee Cost)